STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Supreme Court

**RECEIVED**

**Aug 21 2020**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY

The Honorable Donald B. Hocker, Plea Judge

The Honorable William P. Keesley, Sentencing Judge

The Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith, Post-conviction Relief Judge

Case No.: 2020-000013

State of South Carolina,

Respondent,

vs.

Destiny H. Mills,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

TOMMY A. THOMAS

Bar No.: 005536

Post Office Box 88

Irmo, SC 29063

(803) 732-5507

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

Taylor Z. Smith, Esq.  
Post-Conviction Relief  
South Carolina Attorney General's Office  
Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211

## **QUESTIONS PRESENTED**

- I. Did the post-conviction relief court err in denying Petitioner relief when her defense attorneys provided ineffective representation by failing to move to suppress the State's blood-alcohol evidence after the vial containing a blood sample for Petitioner to have independently tested was destroyed by a law enforcement officer, thus preventing her from asserting her statutory right to conduct her own investigation?**
  
- II. Did the post-conviction relief court err in denying Petitioner relief when her public defender provided ineffective representation by not informing her of her Fifth Amendment right to remain silent when she informed him that she was involved in dram shop litigation related to the accident from which her charge arose?**
  
- III. Did the post-conviction relief court err in denying Petitioner relief when the assistant solicitor on her case bifurcated her plea in order for her to be sentenced by a judge known to be harsh on crimes of this nature?**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment of the Clerk of Court for Lexington County. During its December 2015 term, the Lexington County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner for felony driving under the influence resulting in death (2015-GS-32-02929). The case was prosecuted by Assistant Solicitor Todd Wagoner, Esquire. Initially, Petitioner was represented by David Mauldin of the Lexington County Public Defender's Office (referred to herein by name to avoid confusion with Mr. Williams). Mr. Mauldin represented Petitioner for approximately one year from her arrest. App. p. 133, lines 1-5. Petitioner ultimately retained private counsel, Robert T. ("Theo") Williams, Sr., Esquire (referred to as "Mr. Williams" or "Plea Counsel"). On November 2, 2017, Petitioner appeared before the Honorable Donald B. Hocker and pleaded guilty as indicted. Judge Hocker accepted Petitioner's plea and deferred sentencing. Thereafter, on November 16, 2017, Petitioner appeared before the Honorable William P. Keesley for sentencing. Judge Keesley sentenced Petitioner to a term of imprisonment of ten (10) years. Petitioner did not appeal her plea or sentence.

A post-conviction relief action was filed on May 11, 2018. A hearing was held on June 28, 2019 before the Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith. Due to an issue that arose at the evidentiary hearing, a subsequent hearing was held on September 9, 2019. At the conclusion of this hearing, the Court agreed to accept a written closing on behalf of each party. An Order of Dismissal was filed November 26, 2019. This appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Petitioner filed a post-conviction relief application on May 11, 2018 initially alleging that Plea Counsel was ineffective for the following reasons: Involuntary guilty plea by misleading and ineffective assistance of counsel for lack of research. App. p.56.

Petitioner subsequently amended to include:

1. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel in that:
  - a. Failure to move for dismissal and/or suppression of blood alcohol evidence as a result of Law Enforcement's failure to comply with requirements that a Defendant is entitled to a private testing of any blood evidence.
  - b. Failure to suppress video evidence.
  - c. Failure to move Pre-trial to suppress any and all statements made by the Petitioner.
  - d. Failure of Defense Counsel to advise the Petitioner that she should assert her Constitutional right not to incriminate herself in a civil disposition conducted by Attorney Rick Hall.
  - e. Failure of Defense Counsel to attend the civil disposition on behalf of the Applicant.
  - f. Failure to adequately advise the Petitioner regarding her rights at trial.
  - g. Failure to properly advise the Petitioner about her guilty plea. More specifically that she would only receive five (5) years if she plead guilty or even the possibility of house/arrest.
  - h. That the Applicant was mistakenly advised that if she assisted in the civil case that she would be assisted in the criminal case. That the Applicant mistakenly believed that this would result in the receipt of less or no active prison sentence.
  - i. That Defense Counsel did not adequately consult with the Petitioner regarding her case, the evidence the State had against her and any theory of Defense.
  - j. That the Applicant believes that all plea offers were not conveyed to her.

Petitioner was charged with the crime of felony driving under the influence resulting in death on September 1, 2015. At approximately two o'clock in the morning, Joseph Mozingo was driving Olivia Johnson's 1996 Jeep Cherokee. App. p. 6. Ms. Johnson had just picked up Mr. Mozingo from work, and the two were going to Waffle House, travelling eastbound on Interstate 26 just before the mile marker 113. App. p.6.

As Mr. Mozingo was travelling in the far-right lane, he noticed headlights coming up behind him at a high rate of speed. App. p. 6. The approaching vehicle was a grey Kia Soul, driven by Petitioner. App. p.7. As Petitioner hit Mr. Mozingo's vehicle, Ms. Johnson, who had undone her seatbelt, was ejected from the vehicle. App. p.6-7.

When law enforcement arrived on scene, Applicant made a statement that she had consumed one beer earlier that evening. App. p. 7-8. Law enforcement detected an odor of alcohol from Petitioner and stated that her speech was slurred. App. p.8. Petitioner's friend, James Bonner, who had also been with her earlier that evening, arrived on scene and informed law enforcement the two had been at Wild Wings and the British Bulldog Pub that evening. App. p. 7-8.

Petitioner was transported to the hospital by Law Enforcement where a blood alcohol content sample was taken from Petitioner. The sample revealed she had a BAC of 0.127. App. p.8. Petitioner then admitted she consumed several beers that evening. App. p. 9. She further stated that her passenger was distracting her as she was driving him home. App. p.9.

### **TESIMONY PROVIDED AT POST-CONVICTION RELIEF HEARING**

#### Petitioner, Destiny Mills

Petitioner testified at the post-conviction relief hearing that she was taking a friend home. She stated that, as she was driving, her friend kept trying to kiss her, causing her to loss control of the vehicle. App. p. 79, line 25 - p. 80, lines 1-2. She testified that she was at the scene of the accident for about an hour and then she was taken to the hospital by the police officer. App. p. 81, lines 11-19. Petitioner testified that a blood draw was performed at the hospital at approximately 4:45 a.m. She further stated that when she was arrested at the hospital, she was given her Miranda<sup>1</sup> rights and that she understood these rights.

---

<sup>1</sup> Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S. Ct. 1602 (1966).

Petitioner testified that she made several statements at the scene and, at the hospital, she was notified that her blood alcohol level was .127. App. p. 83, lines 1-25. Petitioner further testified that there was a video from the hospital, but she was never shown the video. She testified that she believed that she would have appeared sober in that video. App. P. 84, line 16 – p.87, line 13.

Petitioner was assigned a public defender in October 2015. App. p. 85, lines 2-7. She testified that she spent approximately six (6) months in the Lexington County detention center until she made bond. She was on bond approximately six (6) months when she retained Private Counsel. App. p. 85, lines 10-22. Petitioner testified that she felt that the representation by the public defender (David Mauldin) was inadequate and that she was concerned by the high caseload of her attorney. She ultimately hired Theo Williams, Esquire in October 2016. App. p. 86, lines 17-23.

Petitioner testified that she was also involved in a civil lawsuit brought by the family of the deceased. During the time that she was represented by the Public Defender's Office, Petitioner was served with a subpoena to appear for deposition. She testified that her understanding of the document she received was that she had to cooperate and, if she did not show up, a warrant would be issued for her arrest. App. p. 87, lines 1-25. She further testified that she discussed this matter with Mr. Mauldin, her Public Defender, and he told her that he would not be present at the deposition: "He told me he wouldn't be there. He wasn't getting paid for civil suits or anything." App. p.88, lines 3-5. Petitioner testified that Mr. Mauldin indicated that they (meaning the Plaintiffs in the civil suit, the decedent's family) might be willing to help her situation. App. p.88, lines 4-10.

Petitioner ultimately had to hire a civil attorney. She hired Wesley Waites to go with her to the deposition. App. p. 88, lines 1-10. Petitioner testified she discussed this matter with Mr. Mauldin and he never explained to her that she should not participate in the deposition or that she should exert her Constitutional, Fifth Amendment right to remain silent. App. p. 88, lines 3 – p.89, line 8; p.89, line 22 – p.90, line 14. Mr. Waites only represented her on the civil cause of action.

Petitioner further testified that she did not know that this deposition could possibly be used against her. She understood that by helping the victim's family (Plaintiffs in their civil dram shop litigation), they would also in turn help her. She further stated that she believed the deposition was ultimately used against her because the Solicitor got a copy of it. App. p.89, lines 9-21. A copy was sent to Petitioner from the solicitor, rather than from Plaintiffs' attorney/deposing counsel, Rick Hall, approximately three (3) weeks before she was supposed to go to trial. App. p.89, lines 12-16.

In the same vein, Mr. Hall, as attorney for the victim's family in their civil matter, made a statement at Petitioner's sentencing hearing. Mr. Hall stated at the sentencing hearing that this case was one of the worst traffic cases that he had ever seen in thirty-five years of practicing law. He further stated that the 911 call is one of the most horrific things that he had ever heard, and the automobiles were virtually destroyed. He alleged Petitioner had been out binge drinking with the purpose of getting drunk, all of which warranted a significant jail sentence. App. p. 10, line 6 - p.11, line 17. Again, Petitioner was never told that she had the right to exercise her Fifth Amendment rights. App. p. 89, lines 1-24.

Petitioner testified that she believed she was not guilty of felony DUI. App. p. 99, lines 10-17. She further stated that the deposition was used against her and that she was prejudiced by this. App. p. 100, lines 5-6.

Petitioner testified that her blood was drawn at the hospital at approximately 4:45 a.m. While she was at the hospital, a police officer came out to speak with her. She stated that she had asked for a sample of the blood drawn, and this officer was going to give her one. She was told by the officer that one of the samples was going directly to SLED to be tested and that the second sample would be hers. She further stated that she did not receive the sample. Petitioner testified that she never received the sample because the officer dropped it. App. p. 94, lines 3-25. She stated that the time that the sample was dropped and destroyed was approximately 7:00 a.m., which was about three hours after the blood drawn, so any subsequent draw would have a different blood alcohol content. Because of this, she never had the opportunity to have her blood independently tested. App. p. 95, lines 1-24.

Petitioner testified that she spoke with Mr. Williams about this matter. He indicated to her that her not receiving her sample was not enough to have the results of the blood alcohol content test suppressed, especially since someone had died in the accident. App. p. 95, line 25 – p.96, line 5. She stated that, had the issue of the destroyed blood sample been pursued and the blood alcohol level could have been suppressed, she would not have accepted the plea. App. p.96, line 23 – p.67, line 23.

Prior to entering her plea, Petitioner was kept in the dark about the terms because she was asked to wait outside of the courtroom. App. p.100, lines 10-24. Petitioner stated that she entered the plea because plea counsel told her that if she pleaded straight up, she would get house arrest. Plea counsel further conveyed that Petitioner had a better chance of getting house arrest if she pleaded guilty instead of going to trial. It was at that time she was informed that she was on the trial docket. App. p. 100, line 25 – p.101, line 21.

Petitioner had also been made aware of unusual information, in that he was contacted by the victim's father prior to the entry of her plea. The victim's father told her in December 2016 that he believed this was just an accident and he did not want her to go to prison. It was her understanding that the victim's father went to the Solicitor's Office and told the Solicitor that he did not want to press charges. She testified that she informed plea counsel about this in hopes it would benefit her, but the father was not at her sentencing hearing. App. p. 101, line 22 – p.102, line 20.

Petitioner further testified that she had a bifurcated hearing. She had a plea hearing on November 2, 2017 and a sentencing hearing was on November 16, 2017. She was confused why she had to go in front of separate judges for the plea and sentencing. She testified that she was told that she had to enter into a guilty plea before it went to trial; but, because she was already on the trial docket, she had to be sentenced in front of the trial Judge. App. p. 103, lines 13-16. She stated that she believed that this was not to her benefit and that the Solicitor was judge shopping. App. p. 103, lines 17-20. She was never told a reason she should have to go in front of a different judge for sentencing, especially because she did not ask for a delay in sentencing. App. p. 103, line 17 – p. 104, line 1.

**Assistant Solicitor Todd Wagoner, Esquire**

Testimony was presented by Assistant Solicitor Todd Wagoner. Mr. Wagoner testified that he was aware of the civil case and deposition. The victims were civilly represented and had asked him to look at their file. Because he looked at their file, he asked for a copy of everything so that he could “turn it over to defense counsel.” He further testified that he would have been able to use the deposition in cross-examination. App. p. 111, line 15 – p.112, line 20.

Mr. Wagoner was asked on cross-examination whether he would have been able to use the sworn testimony of the Defendant. He responded that yes, he would have used it to impeach Petitioner. App. p. 112, lines 13-15

Mr. Wagoner testified that he had only handled one criminal case in his career. But that it was his understanding when a criminal defendant attorney is advised that there is a deposition scheduled in a matter that is related to a criminal case, that they typically would advise their client to assert their Fifth Amendment rights. App. p. 118, lines 13-22.

Regarding the bifurcation of the plea and sentencing, Mr. Wagoner that he spoke with the Solicitor when he found out Petitioner intended to plead. It was suggested that they take the plea two weeks before the trial was scheduled at a prior term of Court, then defer sentencing and have the assigned trial judge sentence the Petitioner. App. p.113, line 24 – p.114, line 12. “It came to let’s plead, lock it in, save the State, you know, the effort we would still need to go through even if it pleads because we need to be ready to go in the event she backs out of the plea.” App. p.119, lines 11-14. She was on the trial docket for the week of the sentencing. App. p. 120, lines 1-3. He concluded by saying that because it was a trial and because it was on the trial list, that is why she was sentenced in front of the Trial Judge. App. p. 120, lines 10-13.

**Testimony of Plea Counsel, Theo Williams, Esquire**

Theo Williams testified that he took over representation from the Public Defender, Mr. Mauldin. In his request for discovery, he received documents and evidence from the civil case. There was a deposition of the Petitioner. App. p. 147, line 14 – p. 148, line 5. Plea Counsel testified that he thought that the deposition and sworn testimony would have an impact upon the jury. He also believed the sworn testimony gave her previous statements more credence and made it more difficult to overcome. App. p. 156, line 20 – p.157, line 19. On cross-examination, Plea

Counsel stated he would never advise a criminal client to take a deposition, regardless of whether the deposition helped her or hurt her. This deposition, he testified, hurt her. App. p. 160, lines 15-21.

When asked about the destruction of the blood evidence, Mr. Williams testified that he did not move to suppress the blood evidence because she was pleading to the crime. Further, he remembered being unsuccessful when trying to suppress blood evidence on similar grounds. Regardless, he said he would have moved to suppress the blood evidence if the case had gone to trial. App. p. 149, line 1 – p.150, line 4.

Plea Counsel brought to the attention of the Court the issue of the bifurcated plea and sentencing. App. p.162, line 12 – p.163, line 7. Plea Counsel stated he did not know any reason why Petitioner was not sentenced by the judge that took her plea. That the explanation to him, was that she had to be sentenced by the trial judge because she was on the trial roster. He further stated that he had an email that was sent by Judge Keesley's law clerk to the Solicitor asking if there were any reason why the plea judge could not do the sentencing. App. p.162, line 12 – p.165, line 9. Plea Counsel read the email that he received on November 8, 2017 to the Court in which Judge Keesley asked Mr. Wagoner why Judge Cooper could not hear this case. The response from Mr. Wagoner was that, with this case being on the trial list, the trial judge should be the sentencing judge. App. p. 164, line 10 – p.165, line 9. Plea Counsel testified that he knew of no rule that required the trial judge to sentence a defendant if the case was on the trial docket and that obviously Judge Keesley knew of no rule that said that either. App. p. 165, lines 3-9. When asked what would have been the benefit of having Judge Keesley hear it as opposed to Judge Cooper, Plea Counsel responded, "I don't know, you would have to ask Mr. Wagoner that." App. p. 165, lines 10-14.

A motion was made by the State to leave the record open as to the issue regarding the bifurcated plea and sentencing. This motion was granted by the court and a hearing on this issue was reconvened on September 9, 2019 in Allendale.

### **Reconvened PCR Hearing**

The court reconvened on September 9, 2019 for the purposes of the State to provide a rebuttal witness to the sentencing issue Plea Counsel brought up at the initial hearing. On direct examination, Mr. Wagoner testified Petitioner was sent a trial notice on September 29, 2017. App. p. 185, lines 19-20. She pleaded guilty in the term prior to the term in which she would have gone to trial. App. p. 185, lines 21-22. Mr. Wagoner further testified, "once something is on the trial docket, the policy is that the trial judge is supposed to take all of the pleas off of it. That is subject to the Chief Administrative Judge basically ordering us. You know, go downstairs and go to the plea court for this." App. p. 187, lines 3-9. He then asserted that the instant case deviated from this policy because Petitioner pleaded prior to her trial date. App. p. 187, lines 10- 12. Mr. Wagoner further explained that once a case is on the trial docket, it was not customary to move it over to the plea judge. This is primarily because once a case is on the trial docket, there are no more offers given by the Solicitor. In this particular case, though, the only offer was that the State would remain silent regarding sentencing. App. p. 189, lines 3-11.

Theo Williams, Petitioner's Plea Counsel, also testified. He was asked if it was customary that once a plea was agreed upon to move this case to a plea judge. He responded that it is done periodically. App. p. 195, lines 3-6. He was further asked if he was aware of any firm or hard and set rule that once a case reaches a trial docket it can never be moved to the plea judge. He responded no. App. p. 195, lines 11-14. Plea Counsel further testified that it was his belief that the issue of the Judge mattered to the Solicitor because he did not want anyone but Judge Keesley

to issue a sentence. He further stated that the problem that he had with this particular issue was that the Solicitor appeared to be in charge of what Judge you would go in front of by doing it the way that he did. App. p. 195, line 20 – p.196, line 7. Plea Counsel stated:

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