RECEIVED

Nov 19 2020

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to Lexington County
The Honorable Donald B. Hocker, Plea Judge
The Honorable William P. Keesley, Sentencing Judge
The Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith, PCR Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-000013

DESTINY H. MILLS,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

TAYLOR ZANE SMITH
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 103282

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-0904

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

The PCR court found Petitioner failed to prove Williams' performance was deficient when he did not move to suppress the State's blood-alcohol evidence. Williams made it clear at the PCR hearing he would have challenged the admissibility of the evidence if Petitioner had proceeded to trial. App. 211. Williams advised Petitioner he did not feel the attempt would be successful, though. App. 211. Petitioner's argument that Williams, because he did not move to suppress the evidence, failed to "explor[e] the possibility of winning at trial" ignores the evidence that Williams and Petitioner did discuss the issue. Williams testified he had unsuccessfully argued for the suppression of blood-alcohol evidence before. Because the record is clear that Williams would have moved for suppression had Petitioner proceeded to trial rather than pleading guilty, he could not possibly have been ineffective for not moving to suppress the

evidence at trial. His advice to Petitioner was based upon his experience dealing with the issue and with the law. In State v. Wickenhauser, 309 S.C. 377, 380, 423 S.E.2d 344, 346 (1992), this Court found the trial court did not err in denying a defendant's motion to suppress blood-alcohol evidence when the defendant's independent blood sample was lost by law enforcement personnel while he was in jail. In State v. Pipkin, 294 S.C. 336-38, 337, 364 S.E.2d 464, 465 (1988) (per curiam), this Court found the trial court erred by denying the defendant's motion to suppress the blood-alcohol evidence when the officer who took possession of the single vial of blood drawn from the defendant told the defendant that he could avail himself of an independent test only by having more blood drawn. In State v. Wilson, 296 S.C. 73, 76, 370 S.E.2d 715, 716 (1988), this Court found that, though the trial court erred in denying the defendant's motion to suppress the blood-alcohol evidence, the error was not prejudicial because the evidence of the defendant's intoxication was cumulative to other evidence. These cases show that Williams' advice to Petitioner fell within the bounds of reasonable professional norms. The fact that two vials of Petitioner's blood were drawn and the office or nurse attempted to give the second one to Petitioner shows that the State made a reasonable effort to give Petitioner the opportunity to do independent testing. The fact that two vials of blood were drawn, one for the State and one for Petitioner, and that she was properly advised of her independent testing rights, distinguishes this case from Pipkin. And there was other evidence of Petitioner's intoxication independent of the blood-alcohol evidence: Petitioner admitted to law enforcement in the wake of the crash and testified under oath at the deposition that she had consumed alcohol on the night of the crash; the circumstances of the crash show that it would have been unusual for Petitioner to crash into the victim's car, which was travelling slowly and solitarily in the far-right lane, if Petitioner had not

been intoxicated; and Petitioner's behavior while at the hospital would have reasonably led to a conclusion that she may have been under the influence of alcohol.

This Court should deny the petition for a writ of certiorari as to the first question presented.

II. The PCR court correctly found Petitioner failed to prove that Mauldin was constitutionally ineffective for not advising Petitioner of her right not to testify at a deposition in the victim's estate's dram shop litigation because Petitioner testified at the deposition without giving Mauldin the full opportunity to consider matter and properly advise Petitioner and because Petitioner failed to prove that there is a reasonable likelihood that the fact of her testifying at the deposition caused her to plead guilty.

Petitioner argues the PCR court erred in finding Mauldin was not constitutionally ineffective with respect to his advice to Petitioner regarding her right to remain silent at a civil deposition because by not giving proper legal advice to Petitioner, Mauldin violated his duty to protect Petitioner against the negative consequences of testifying under oath in a civil deposition while awaiting trial and because the testimony Petitioner gave at the deposition could have been used to impeach her had she proceeded to trial. Petitioner's argument fails because Petitioner's unilateral actions did not give Mauldin the opportunity to fully consider the matter and advise Petitioner thereafter and because Petitioner has failed to prove that there is a reasonable likelihood that she would have proceeded to trial had Mauldin advised her differently.

Mauldin represented Petitioner during the early stages of the underlying criminal case. While Mauldin was representing Petitioner, Petitioner was served with a subpoena commanding her to appear and give sworn testimony at a deposition in the dram shop civil suit brought by the victim's family against the bars and restaurants that served alcohol to Petitioner on the night of the crash. Supp. App. 1. Mauldin's testimony about the substance of his discussions with

Petitioner about the civil litigation—testimony that the PCR court found to be more credible than Petitioner’s about this topic—was that Petitioner made him aware of the civil suit, at which point he exercised caution because cooperation with the victim’s family in the matter could be beneficial but could also be harmful. App. 222. Mauldin’s more credible testimony was that he told Petitioner of other cases in which the cooperation of the defendants with the victims’ families’ civil suits resulted in benefits to the defendants in sentencing but warned her that any statements she made could be used against her in the criminal case. App. 218. Mauldin said his advice to a defendant faced with the choice to cooperate or not would depend upon the facts and circumstances of the particular case, and testified his approach in Petitioner’s case was a “let’s wait and see thing.” App. 218-19. Mauldin did not learn that Petitioner had been subpoenaed or testified in the civil deposition until she informed him of the fact afterwards. App. 222.² As the PCR court found, Petitioner kept Mauldin in the dark about the deposition, depriving him of the chance to consider the particular facts and circumstances of Petitioner’s case so that he could advise her whether or not to testify at the deposition or to assert her right to remain silent. App. 222-23.

The PCR court correctly found that Petitioner failed to prove that there is a reasonable likelihood that Mauldin’s performance with respect to his advice to Petitioner about the civil suit affected Petitioner’s decision to plead guilty rather than proceed to trial. App. 223. The PCR court found that Petitioner presented sparse evidence that the civil suit and deposition affected her decision to plead guilty and that she instead was more concerned at the time with the blood-alcohol evidence that the State had. App. 223. The emphasis of Petitioner’s testimony at the PCR

² The PCR court provided in its order of dismissal a thorough summary of Petitioner’s testimony at the deposition. App. 220-22.

was weighted towards the blood-alcohol evidence. App. 223. Additionally, the substance of Petitioner's testimony at the deposition was "substantially similar" to the statements she made to law enforcement officers in the wake of the crash. Mauldin and Williams both thought Petitioner's testimony during the deposition was not very harmful to her defense. App. 223. The assistant solicitor would have tried Petitioner and believed he would have secured a conviction even if Petitioner had not testified at the deposition; he believed he would have used the deposition transcript at trial only to impeach Petitioner if she made statements that contradicted what she had said while under oath at the deposition. App. 223. As such, Petitioner has not proved that the transcript from her deposition was particularly harmful to her defense in light of the other evidence of her guilt and has not proved that there is a reasonable likelihood she would have proceeded to trial if she had not given the sworn testimony.

This Court should deny the petition for a writ of certiorari as to the second question presented.

III. The PCR court correctly found Petitioner failed to prove that she is entitled to post-conviction relief due to the fact that Petitioner's guilty plea hearing was bifurcated into one hearing where she entered her guilty plea and a second hearing where she was sentenced, with different judges presiding over each because Petitioner did not prove that the bifurcation was improper and that she suffered any prejudice.

Petitioner argues the PCR court erred in denying relief to her because the State engaged in "judge shopping" by bifurcating her guilty plea hearing so that she pleaded guilty before one judge and then was sentenced by another some days later. Petitioner argues the assistant solicitor offered contradictory explanations for the bifurcation and was actually motivated by a desire to have the sentencing judge "issue a sentence of a certain type." Petitioner's argument fails because the PCR court correctly found that the assistant solicitor offered reasonable reasons for

the bifurcation and Petitioner failed to prove that she suffered prejudice in any way by the bifurcation.

The PCR court found no impropriety in the assistant solicitor's actions. App. 230-31. The assistant solicitor testified about the general practice of the Eleventh Circuit Solicitor's Office, which is to have defendants plead guilty before the assigned trial judge once their cases have been set for trial. App. 230-31. If the typical practice had been followed, Petitioner would have entered her guilty plea before and then been sentenced by Judge Keesley. App. 230-31. In Petitioner's case, though, the assistant solicitor departed from the typical practice by having Petitioner enter her guilty plea before Judge Hocker not long before because he believed there was a chance Petitioner might change her mind and proceed to trial instead of pleading guilty if the parties waited for Petitioner to plead guilty before Judge Keesley on the scheduled trial date. App. 231.

The PCR court correctly found that Petitioner failed to prove any prejudice to her from the bifurcation. App. 231. In State v. Langford, 400 S.C. 421, 432-36, 735 S.E.2d 471, 477-79 (2012), this Court found a statute vesting the circuit solicitors with the exclusive authority to prepare dockets for courts of General Sessions was unconstitutional because it violated the doctrine of the separation of powers. This Court did not stop there, though, but required that Langford prove that he suffered prejudice as a result of the solicitor setting the date on which the case was called to trial. Id. at 436, 735 S.E.2d at 479.³ Notably, the Court "question[ed] the

³ The South Carolina Court of Appeals has required defendants to prove prejudice in similar contexts. See State v. Howard, 384 S.C. 212, 218, 682 S.E.2d 42, 45 (S.C. Ct. App. 2009) (finding the trial court did not err in denying Howard's motion to recuse him because there was no evidence that the court had any personal bias toward Howard); State v. Cheatham, 349 S.C. 101, 110-12, 561 S.E.2d 618, 623-24 (S.C. Ct. App. 2002) (finding the trial court did not err in

extent to which [the statute] actually permitted judge shopping,” but assumed that it did so for the sake of argument. Id. at 437, 735 S.E.2d at 479. Ultimately, this Court found Langford failed to establish any evidence of actual prejudice because “[t]he only support offered for the allegation of bias by the presiding judge, in this case, Judge Keesley, is the simple fact that he ruled in favor of the State on previous issues that arose. Yet there is not a shred of evidence that [Judge Keesley] did so out of any animus towards Langford or allegiance to the State.” Id. at 469, 735 S.E.2d at 480.

In this case, Petitioner has offered no evidence that she suffered prejudice from being sentenced by Judge Keesley despite entering her guilty plea before Judge Hocker. The “potential for abuse” cannot be equated with the presence of abuse. Langford, at 440, 735 S.E.2d at 481. Petitioner had no evidence that the sentence she received before Judge Keesley was any harsher than the sentence she would have received from Judge Hocker. App. 231. The sentence she received was within the statutory range. App. 231. Petitioner presented mitigation to Judge Keesley, which included statements from two character witnesses and multiple letters written on Petitioner’s behalf. App. 231. Petitioner speculated that she may have received a more favorable punishment had she been sentenced by Judge Hocker instead of Judge Keesley, noting that perhaps Judge Hocker would have been swayed by; this mere speculation does not constitute evidence of prejudice because the father did not testify on Petitioner’s behalf at the PCR hearing and did not make any positive statements to Judge Hocker at the guilty plea hearing, though he

declining to recuse himself despite the fact that a second circuit judge announced an initial intention to make certain pre-trial rulings in Cheatham’s favor because there was no evidence to support the allegation that the trial court should have recused himself. Noting that the question of whether the solicitor acted improperly by not calling the case to trial before the judge who made the favorable comments did not affect the trial court’s ability to preside over trial.).

was there. App. 3-14, 24, 229; Bannister v. State, 333 S.C. 298, 303, 509 S.E.2d 807, 809 (1998) (citing Pauling v. State, 331 S.C. 606, 503 S.E.2d 468 (1998)) (instructing that an “applicant must produce the testimony of a favorable witness or otherwise offer the testimony in accordance with the rules of evidence at the PCR hearing in order to establish prejudice from the witness’ failure to testify at trial.”); see also Dempsey v. State, 363 S.C. 365, 370, 610 S.E.2d 812, 815 (2005) (holding that the PCR court’s finding that Dempsey was prejudiced by trial counsel’s failure to call an expert at trial to rebut the State’s expert was merely speculative when Dempsey failed to have an expert testify at his PCR hearing), abrogated on other grounds by Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018). The victim’s father chose not to speak at the sentencing hearing because he was too emotional, but asked the assistant solicitor to inform Judge Keesley that the victim was “a special person” and had artistic talent. App. 24. The only comments Judge Keesley heard from the victim’s family came from the attorney who represented the victim’s brothers, comments that “[a] significant jail sentence [was] warranted” App. 25-26.

Instead of proving prejudice, Petitioner wants to infer and presume it. Petitioner notes that Williams speculated at the PCR hearing that the solicitor’s office may prefer to control when cases are called to trial because the practice allows the solicitor to “make sure that whichever person that [he] put[s] on the trial roster that week can receive whatever sentence that [he] think[s] would be more beneficial to the State versus any other consideration.” App. 196. Petitioner argues that “judges become known for their habits in the courtroom and rulings, including their propensity to sentence in certain ways” and contends that her accusations of impropriety was not that Judge Keesley behaved inappropriately, but that the assistant solicitor

did so. Petitioner’s contention that Judge Keesley has a “propensity” for harsher sentencing than Judge Hocker is not only not unsupported, but is “untenable and insulting towards the court, and it would set a dangerous precedent were [this Court] to sanction it.” Langford, at 439, 735 S.E.2d at 480. Petitioner alleges she does not mean to impugn the integrity of Judge Keesley, but questions the motivations of the assistant solicitor in bifurcating the guilty plea hearing. That sleight of hand does not work because, even if the assistant solicitor was motivated to have Petitioner sentenced by Judge Keesley specifically, that motivation has significance only if Judge Keesley has some nefarious allegiance to the State.

This Court should deny the petition for a writ of certiorari as to the third ground presented.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny the petition for a writ of certiorari.